RECEIVED

Aug 01 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 22-ALJ-15-0013-AP

Appellate Case No. 2023-000693

Charles J. Madden, #00182326, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Stover
S.C. Bar No. 104757
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
Email: michael.stover@nelsonmullins.com
(803) 799-2000
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in failing to apply the statutory meaning of “community supervision program” to the facts before it and instead deferring to Respondent’s interpretation of that term.**
2. **Whether the Administrative Law Court’s finding is supported by substantial evidence contained in the Record on Appeal.**
3. **Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in considering, and basing its Final Order upon, facts which were not contained in the Record on Appeal.**

INTRODUCTION

In this appeal, an inmate challenges an Administrative Law Court Order finding the Parole Board’s most recent decision denying parole was a “routine denial of parole.” While this appeal raises multiple issues of both law and fact, at its core are two simple issues South Carolina’s courts have already addressed: Where the General Assembly has provided a statutory definition for a term, the Administrative Law Court may not disregard the statute’s unambiguous meaning and defer to an administrative agency’s interpretation of that term, and the Administrative Law Court, sitting in its appellate capacity, may not render a decision based on facts which are not in the Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Charles J. Madden appeared before the Parole Board (the “Board”) for his most recent parole hearing on July 13, 2022. After his hearing, the Board voted 4-1 to deny parole. (Notice of Rejection, R. p. 3). The Board issued its Notice of Rejection on July 14, 2023, stating that it denied parole, in part, based on Appellant’s “failure to successfully complete a community supervision program.” (*Id.*).

Appellant appealed the Board’s decision to the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”). Prior

to submitting briefs, the Appellant moved the ALC to supplement the record on appeal. (Motion to Supplement, R. pp. 30-103). Respondent, the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services, opposed the motion, arguing that all information beyond its Notice of Rejection was irrelevant to the ALC's review. (Memo Opposing Motion to Supplement, R. pp. 104-08). The ALC agreed with the Department and found that material extrinsic to the Notice of Rejection was beyond its review and, per SCALC Rule 61, the Notice of Rejection and Respondent's Criteria for Parole Consideration were the only documents to be included in the Record on Appeal. (ALC Order Denying Motion to Supplement, R. pp. 4-10).

Appellant's arguments before the ALC centered on the fact that "community supervision program" is a statutorily defined term and, by the plain language of the statute, Appellant is neither permitted nor required to complete a community supervision program as a condition of his release. (Appellant's Brief to ALC, R. pp. 117-20, Appellant's Reply Brief to ALC, R. pp. 139-42). Because he is neither required nor eligible to participate in a community supervision program, the Appellant has never participated in, much less failed to successfully complete, such a program. (Appellant's Brief to ALC, R. pp. 117-20). Even assuming the provisions of the community supervision program were applicable to the Appellant, the statute is a prospective statute that was not enacted until after the Appellant was sentenced and, therefore, he cannot be required to complete such a program. (*Id.*). Consequently, the Board's finding of fact that the Appellant failed to successfully complete such a program is clearly erroneous, and its decision to deny him parole based on this finding is plain error and violative of several of Appellant's rights. The Department argued in response that the term "community supervision program" is a "broad phrase" encompassing any form of supervised release. (Respondent's Brief to ALC, R. pp. 130-31). The Department then pointed to a probation revocation

from 1982 (a fact which was not properly in the record before the court) as factual support for its finding that Appellant failed to successfully complete a community supervision program. (R. p. 131).

After reviewing the parties' briefs, the ALC issued an Order of Remand on February 14, 2023. In its Order, the ALC noted a statutory definition of community supervision program exists, South Carolina statutes and case law overwhelmingly supports Appellant's position, and that the use of "community supervision program" to refer to probation would be "curious under the facts of this case." (ALC Order of Remand, R. p. 14). The ALC further noted, in footnote text, that it was "unable to find any instance of "community supervision program" used synonymously with probation in South Carolina statutes or case law." (R. p. 14 n.2). Despite this, the ALC opined that the "phrase" community supervision program "is not well established" and remanded the case, requesting Respondent to elucidate its interpretation of the term "community supervision program." (R. pp. 14-15). Unsurprisingly, on March 2, 2023, the Respondent issued an Order stating it held a meeting on the issue and its use of "community supervision program" was intended to mean, in effect, what its attorneys' brief argued it meant. (Parole Board Order of March 2, 2023, R. p. 17).

The ALC issued its Final Order in this matter on March 23, 2023, finding Respondent's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous and its decision constituted a routine denial of parole. (ALC Final Order, R. p. 22). The ALC's decision was based on its acceptance of Respondent's interpretation of "community supervision program" and the Board's assertion that it was referring to Appellant's 1982 probation revocation (which was not part of the record properly before the court) when it found Appellant had failed to successfully complete a community supervision program. (R. pp. 21-22).

Appellant served his Notice of Appeal on the Department and the Administrative Law Court

on April 20, 2023, and now respectfully asks this Court to reverse the ALC's Final Order and require the ALC to issue an order remanding this matter to the Board for the Board to grant Appellant Parole. In the alternative, Appellant requests this Court reverse the ALC's decision below and require the ALC to issue an order remanding this matter to the Board for a new hearing to be conducted in compliance with the statutorily mandated process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act sets forth the standard of appellate review for cases decided by the ALC in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B):

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). "Thus, [the Court of Appeals] can reverse the ALC if the findings are affected by error of law, are not supported by substantial evidence, or are characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." *Schwiers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 429 S.C. 43, 49, 837 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 64, 663 S.E.2d 497, 501 (Ct. App. 2008)).

This appeal, which challenges the facial validity of Respondent's Notice of Rejection,

presents a mixed question of law and fact: whether the ALC correctly interpreted the relevant statutes and whether the ALC correctly applied those statutes to the facts of this case. *See Boggero v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 414 S.C. 277, 280, 777 S.E.2d 842, 843 (Ct. App. 2015). Consequently, two standards of review are applied. *Id.*

On questions of fact, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the ALC as to the weight of evidence and may reverse or modify an administrative decision only where the ALC's findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence. *See, e.g., Torrence v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 433 S.C. 633, 642, 861 S.E.2d 36, 41 (Ct. App. 2021), *reh'g denied* (Aug. 4, 2021), *cert. denied* (Aug. 3, 2022) (internal citations omitted). South Carolina courts have defined "substantial evidence" as "evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached." *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 210, 712 S.E.2d 428, 434 (2011) (citing *Southeast Res. Recovery, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 358 S.C. 402, 407, 595 S.E.2d 468, 470 (2004)) "Substantial evidence" is more than a mere scintilla of evidence, and the facts are not to be viewed "blindly from one side of the case." *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 605, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676 (Ct. App. 2008); *A.O. Smith Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 428 S.C. 189, 201, 833 S.E.2d 451, 458 (Ct. App. 2019).

The ALC's statutory interpretations, however, are "question[s] of law subject to de novo review." *Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Probation Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 404 S.C. 395, 414, 745 S.E.2d 110, 120 (2013) (reversing ALC's acceptance of statutory interpretation proffered by Department); *Geohaghan v. S.C. Dep't of Emp. & Workforce*, 439 S.C. 14, 28, 885 S.E.2d 422, 429 (Ct. App. 2023). Thus, when adjudicating a question of law, the "substantial evidence" test does not apply and

the court “may reverse the decision of the ALC where it is in violation of a statutory provision or it is affected by an error of law.” *Id.*; see also *Barton* at 414, 745 S.E.2d at 120.

In cases involving a state agency’s interpretation of a statute the agency is entrusted with administering, South Carolina’s appellate courts generally give deference the agency’s interpretation. *Jack’s Custom Cycles, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 439 S.C. 35, 48, 885 S.E.2d 433, 440 (Ct. App. 2023), *reh’g denied* (Apr. 26, 2023). However, where the plain language of a statute or regulation is contrary to an agency’s interpretation, the court will reject that interpretation. *Id.*; *A.O. Smith Corp.* at 202–03, 833 S.E.2d at 458–59. Where the terms of the statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning; courts may not disregard a statute’s plain language or resort to a forced interpretation to expand or limit the scope or meaning of a statute. *Brown v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (internal citations omitted). “An administrative construction affords no basis for the perpetuation of a patently erroneous application of the statute.” *Jack’s Custom Cycles, Inc.* at 48, 885 S.E.2d at 440.

When interpreting and applying statutes and regulations administered by an agency, South Carolina’s appellate courts apply a two-step process. *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 32–33, 766 S.E.2d 707, 717 (2014). The court must first determine whether the statutory or regulatory language speaks directly to the issue and, if so, the court must utilize the clear meaning of the statute or regulation. *Id.* (citing *Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 436, 440, 581 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2003)) (holding that where the plain language of a statute is contrary to the agency’s interpretation, the Court will reject the agency’s interpretation). Second, and **only if** the statute or regulation is silent or ambiguous, the court must then give deference to the agency’s interpretation, assuming the interpretation is worthy of deference. *Id.* (citing *Chevron*,

U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984)).

ARGUMENT

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT’S FINAL ORDER IS AFFECTED BY ERROR OF LAW AND SHOULD BE REVERSED

The ALC’s Order remanding this matter for the Respondent’s Board to “elucidate” its intended meaning of “community supervision program,” and the ALC’s subsequent reliance on Respondent’s Board’s interpretation of that term, constitutes reversible error. The ALC’s order is in error because the ALC ignored the unambiguous statutory definition of “community supervision program” and improperly deferred to the Board’s interpretation.

In appeals from denial of parole, the ALC sits in an appellate capacity. *Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 489, 497, 661 S.E.2d 106, 110 (2008), *abrogated on other grounds by Allen v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, No. 2021-001143, 2023 WL 2778609 (S.C. Apr. 5, 2023). When interpreting and applying statutes and regulations administered by an agency, South Carolina’s appellate courts apply a two-step process. *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II* at 32–33, 766 S.E.2d at 717.

The first step of this process requires the ALC to determine whether the statutory or regulatory language speaks directly to the issue and, if so, the court must apply the clear meaning of the statute or regulation. *Id.* The second step, which should only be reached if the relevant statute is silent or ambiguous, requires courts to defer to the agency’s interpretation, but only if the agency’s interpretation is “worthy of deference.” *Id.*

- a. *The Administrative Law Court Erred by Failing to Find “Community Supervision Program” is a Statutorily Defined Term Applicable in This Case.***

The ALC erred by failing to apply the unambiguous statutory definition of “community supervision program” to the issues presented. Under the two-stage analysis set forth in *Kiawah*, courts interpreting and applying a statute administered by an agency must first determine whether the statute speaks directly to the issue and, if so, the court must apply the statute’s clear meaning. *Id.* at 32–33, 766 S.E.2d at 717; *see also Brown* at 515, 560 S.E.2d at 414 (“While the Court typically defers to the Board's construction of its own regulation, where, as here, the plain language of the regulation is contrary to the Board's interpretation, the Court will reject its interpretation.”) The court should defer to the agency’s interpretation of a statute only if the statute is silent or ambiguous and may not resort to a forced interpretation to either expand or limit the statute’s meaning. *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II* at 32-33, 766 S.E.2d at 717; *Brown* at 515, 560 S.E.2d at 414.

In the case at bar, the ALC completely failed to apply the first step of the analysis set forth in *Kiawah*. The ALC’s order of remand notes that “[i]n South Carolina statutes and case law, the phrase [community supervision program] appears to be overwhelmingly used in reference to the statutory community supervision program.” (Order of Remand, R p. 14). The ALC further noted it was unable to find any instances of the term being used synonymously with “probation” in either statute or case law (R. p. 14 n.2). The ALC went on to state that “given that the phrase in this state is most typically used in relation to the statutory community supervision program, the use of the phrase to refer to probation would be curious under the facts of this case.” (R. p. 14). Despite acknowledging that there *is* a statutory definition of community supervision program and noting the complete lack of support for the Board’s position, the ALC did not attempt to apply the statutory definition to the facts before it. Instead, the ALC found the meaning of “community supervision program” was unclear, concluded it was unable to reach the merits of the case before it, and

remanded the matter to the Board for “further elucidation” as to the basis for its finding. (R. p. 15).

“Community supervision program” is, contrary to the ALC’s holding below, a statutorily defined term that is applicable to the facts presented. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-21-560 *et. seq.* sets forth the parameters of the community supervision program and states the Respondent is the state agency responsible for developing, operating, and overseeing the community supervision program. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-21-560(A)-(B). The Respondent is the state agency responsible for determining the duration of an inmate’s community supervision program and the individual terms and conditions of a prisoner’s participation in the community supervision program. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-560(B). The Respondent is also statutorily responsible for supervising an inmate’s participation in the community supervision program and determining whether an inmate has successfully completed a community supervision program, violated its terms, failed to participate satisfactorily, or whether the inmate should appear before a court for revocation of the community supervision program. *Id.*

Critically to the facts of this case, South Carolina law explicitly states that persons sentenced to life imprisonment, such as Appellant, are exempted from participation in a community supervision program:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, ***except in a case in which the death penalty or a term of life imprisonment is imposed***, any sentence for a "no parole offense" as defined in Section 24-13-100 must include any term of incarceration and completion of a community supervision program operated by the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-560(A). Moreover, the statutes establishing the community supervision program – which are prospective in nature – did not become operative until January 1, 1996, nearly five years after the Appellant’s conviction and sentencing. *See* 1995 S.C. Laws Act 83 (H.B. 3096)

(amending various code sections to provide certain prisoners must complete a community supervision program as a condition of release).¹

In this case, despite recognizing that a statutory definition of “community supervision program” exists, the ALC failed to correctly interpret the statutory definition of “community supervision program,” failed to find the term was directly applicable to the Respondent and failed to apply the statutory definition to the case before it. Because the ALC failed to accurately interpret and apply the statutory definition of “community supervision program,” its holding that the Respondent’s decision was a routine denial of parole is affected by an error of law. This Court should, therefore, reverse the ALC’s decision and require the ALC to issue an order remanding this matter to the Board for the Board to grant Appellant Parole. In the alternative, Appellant requests this Court reverse the ALC’s decision below and require the ALC to issue an order remanding this matter to the Board for a new hearing to be conducted in compliance with the statutorily mandated process.

b. The Administrative Law Court Erred by Remanding this Matter to Respondent’s Board Rather Than Making its Own Finding of Law.

After receiving and reviewing briefs from both parties, the ALC found it was unable to determine what Respondent meant by its use of the term “community supervision program.” (Order of Remand, R. pp. 14–15). Because the ALC was unable to ascertain Respondent’s subjective meaning of this term, it remanded the case for Respondent – a litigant in this matter – to state what it meant when it used the term “community supervision program” – the very term at issue in this

¹ The Department’s own website unambiguously addresses the effective date and prospective nature of the community supervision program, noting that “[i]ndividuals who committed one of these [“no parole offenses”] on or after January 1, 1996, are not eligible for parole consideration at any time during their sentence.” SCDPPP, *Supervision Strategies*, available at <https://www.dppps.sc.gov/offender-supervision/supervision-strategies>.

matter. (*Id.*) The ALC's Order of Remand is an improper abdication of the ALC's judicial role to one of the party litigants in the case. Because the ALC erred by issuing and relying on its Order of Remand, its holding below is based on upon unlawful procedure, affected by an error of law, and arbitrary and capricious and this Court should reverse.

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