STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 27 2023

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge
Docket Number 22-ALJ-15-0013-AP

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2023-000693

CHARLES MADDEN, #182326,APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND
PARDON SERVICES,RESPONDENT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew C. Buchanan
General Counsel

South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Matthew.Buchanan@ppp.sc.gov
(803) 734-9283
SC Bar No 73740
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

1. The phrase “community supervision program” is not solely a term of art that refers to the supervision program defined in S.C. Code 24-21-560.

Despite the minimal due process rights afforded inmates in parole hearings and the obvious plain-language meaning of the phrase “community supervision program,” Appellant applies a hyper-technical definition to the phrase in an obvious bid to circumvent the Parole Board and demand parole by manufacturing a due process issue that plainly does not exist.

Appellant insists that the phrase “community supervision program” only refers to the period of supervision required of prisoners who are convicted of “no parole offenses” per S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-100 that begins upon the release from incarceration. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-560. This program and its specific name came into being via operation of legislation in 1995, five years after he was originally convicted and sentenced. *See* 1995 S.C. Laws Act 83 (H.B. 3096).

Prior to this, “community supervision program” and “community supervision” have been generic phrases that have been in use for years and are defined as any type of program in which an offender lives in the community at large but is still supervised by the State.¹ This phrase regularly incorporated probation, parole, supervised furlough, and, after 1996, the Community Supervision Program (CSP)².

Contrary to Appellant’s position that “community supervision program” only ever refers to CSP throughout the entire Code, the phrase is in use in several statutes that are clearly meant generically rather than CSP. The phrase is distinguished from CSP in the electronic monitoring statute S.C. Code § 23-3-540. “(C) A person who is required to register... and who violates a term

¹ Notably, this phrase was used prior to the enactment of § 24-21-560. *See* S.C. Code § 24-21-520(1) (Supp. 1993) (effective date August 31, 1994; repealed June 29, 1995). *See also* S.C. Code § 24-22-120 (Supp. 1992).

² For clarity, Respondent will use the acronym CSP to refer to the community supervision program required for those serving no parole offenses pursuant to S.C. Code 24-21-560.

of probation, parole, community supervision, *or a community supervision program* must be ordered...” (emphasis added). See also “(D) A person who is required to register... and who violates a term of probation, parole, community supervision, *or a community supervision program*, may be ordered by the court...” (emphasis added).

In another context, S.C. Code § 24-21-280(A) outlines the duties and powers of a probation agent over individuals “released on probation, parole, or community supervision under his supervision” do not mention reentry supervision (S.C. Code § 24-21-32) or supervised furlough (S.C. Code § 24-13-710 and § 24-13-720), but individuals on either form of supervision are still clearly under the authority of the agent. Similarly, “community supervision” is used in the generic sense in S.C. Code § 24-3-40(B)(1) and (3) when the Code speaks to when and how inmates’ wages are distributed upon their release from incarceration. The phrase “community supervision program” is obviously used in a generic context because inmates are released to a variety of supervision programs depending on their sentence, such as parole, probation, CSP, or supervised reentry.

Lastly, it should be noted how regularly the Code cites to § 24-21-560 whenever it refers to CSP. “[A] community supervision program as set forth in Section 24-21-560” is used in § 24-21-30(A). Section 24-13-150 states that certain inmates are not eligible “for early release, discharge, or community supervision as provided in Section 24-21-560,” and § 24-13-210 (E) states, “a person is required to complete a community supervision program pursuant to Section 24-21-560,” while (F) states, “... prerelease or community supervision program as provided in Section 24-21-560.”³

Quite simply, if the phrase “community supervision program” had only one singular

³ See also: § 24-13-230(C) and § 24-21-32.

meaning as Appellant insists, then the General Assembly would have no need to refer to § 24-21-560 each time it needs to make sure the actual program referenced therein was implicated. In fact, because the plain language of the phrase “community supervision program” could refer to any number of the myriad forms of supervision within the community that have developed over the years, it is clearly incumbent on the Legislature to refer to § 24-21-560 whenever a statute affects or is affected by CSP.

Because there are multiple references to a “community supervision program” that do not clearly refer to CSP, Appellant is incorrect in his insistence that there is only one interpretation that can be made regarding its use by the Parole Board in its rejection letter. Appellant’s argument is therefore without merit.

2. The Administrative Law Court did not err when it remanded the matter back to the Parole Board for further clarification.

Appellant argues that the ALC should have made its own determination that the Parole Board meant CSP in its parole rejection letter. Respondent submits that the ALC would have been correct if it had summarily dismissed the appeal, and certainly did not err when it remanded the question to the Parole Board for clarification.

As an initial matter, the ALC is extremely limited in its jurisdiction over appeals from the Parole Board. The ALC does not have jurisdiction to hear an appeal of a routine denial of parole. “An administrative law judge shall not hear ... an appeal involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services.” S.C. Code § 1-23-600(D). Only when the Department determines an inmate is permanently ineligible for parole does the ALC have full jurisdiction to review that decision. *Furtick v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 374 S.C. 334, 339, 649 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2007). In *Furtick*, the Supreme Court extended *Al-*

*Shabazz*⁴ to parole eligibility decisions while emphasizing the difference between a final decision and a temporary granting or denial of parole by the Parole Board.

“Parole is a privilege, not a right. *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 496, 661 S.E.2d at 110 (citing *Sullivan v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124, 127 n. 4 (2003)). “[N]o such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board: that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.” § 24-21-640. “Undoubtedly, the Parole Board is the sole authority with respect to decisions regarding the grant or denial of parole.” *Cooper v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 499, 661 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2008).

In this case, Appellant has attempted to convert a routine denial of parole into a due process issue by deliberately misreading and misconstruing language in the Parole Board’s letter of rejection. He makes the strained argument that the Board is requiring him to have completed a term of CSP despite the unambiguous language indicating that the Board was not satisfied to grant him parole based on the seriousness of Appellant’s crime and the circumstances surrounding it, his poor criminal history and his failure to successfully complete a supervision program. The ALC would have been perfectly within its authority to see through Appellant’s efforts to cloud the waters and dismiss his appeal – as required by the Supreme Court in *Compton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs.*, 385 S.C. 476, 684 S.E.2d 175 (2009). “We emphasized that ... if the Parole Board clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24–21–640 and the fifteen factors published in Form 1212, and that if the Parole Board

⁴ *Al-Shabazz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 369, 527 S.E.2d 742, 750 (2000).

complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC will have limited authority to review the decision.” *Id.*, 385 S.C. at 479, 684 S.E.2d at 177.

However, the ALC instead chose to remand the matter back to the Parole Board for clarification over the phrase, “community supervision program.” This was in no way an error, despite Appellant’s insistence. He cites to *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 32, 766 S.E.2d 707, 717 (2014), and the two-step process regarding interpretation of statutes and regulations administered by state agencies. “First, a court must determine whether the language of a statute or regulation directly speaks to the issue. If so, the court must utilize the clear meaning of the statute or regulation.” *Id.*, citing *Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 436, 581 S.E.2d 836 (2003).

Appellant’s reliance on *Kiawah* is woefully inaccurate. The language at issue is the interpretation of the Parole Board’s letter of rejection, not a statute or regulation. Therefore, even the first prong of the two steps falls short. Just because the Board happens to use a phrase in its letter that mirrors something in statute does not make it a matter of statutory interpretation. The Board’s letter is just that, a letter, fulfilling the requirements of *Cooper* and providing “reasons for the Board’s action denying parole.” *Greenholtz v. Inmates of Nebraska Penal and Corr. Complex*, 442 U.S. 1, 6, 99 S.Ct. 2100, 2103 (1979).

Despite *Kiawah* not being relevant to the case because it does not involve the interpretation of a statute or a regulation, the ALC still was within its authority to remand the matter for clarification on what the Board meant by the phrase “community supervision program.” This was an appropriate action to clarify the issue Appellant raised. See, e.g., *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Authority v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 692 S.E.2d 894 (2010).

Appellant's arguments that the ALC erred by "deferring to Respondent's 'intended meaning' of the term 'community supervision program'"⁵ are insufficient for two plainly obvious reasons. The first one, as discussed, is that the ALC was not interpreting a statute or regulation – it was attempting to ascertain the meaning of a phrase in a letter from the Parole Board. Therefore, the appropriate action was to remand the matter for clarification.

Second, Appellant argues that it was inappropriate to defer to "a litigant in this matter"⁶ and that Respondent acted purely in self-interest when the Parole Board clarified the phrase to be inclusive of all forms of supervision within the community. This, of course, fails because it is completely reasonable to draw such an inference from the phrase and the context in which it was used. The Parole Board is a body independent from Respondent Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. The Parole Board members are appointed by the governor⁷ and do not draw a salary.⁸

Consider that the Board members have no role to play with individuals released to CSP. Inmates serving "no parole sentences" by definition are not considered for parole, so they do not appear before the Board. Their release from incarceration to supervision under the terms of CSP operate independently from the Parole Board. Consequently, to maintain that the only possible interpretation of the phrase "a community supervision program," when used by the Board, means CSP pursuant to § 24-21-560 is a massive leap of logic. Clearly, the ALC did not take that leap, and took the reasonable step of asking the Board to clarify itself. This Court should therefore uphold the ALC's decision.

⁵ Brief of Appellant at p. 11

⁶ *Id.*

⁷ S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-10(B).

⁸ S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-12.

3. The Administrative Law Court's order was clearly supported by evidence and should be upheld.

Appellant argues that the ALC's order upholding the Board's decision denying parole should be reversed because it was not supported by substantial evidence. In making this argument, he relies on his incorrect assertion that there is only one way to interpret the phrase "community supervision program" (addressed in Part 1), that the ALC improperly requested the Board to clarify its statement (addressed in Part 2), and that any information about his prior criminal history and his resultant failure to complete probation in 1983 (R.p.151) due to his arrest and conviction for the offense for which he is serving now should not have been considered by the ALC.

Of course, the phrase "community supervision program" does not exclusively refer to CSP. The ALC appropriately remanded the matter to the Board for clarification. Thus, Appellant's argument that there was insufficient evidence for the ALC to uphold the Board's decision fails on those initial grounds. However, in case this Court chooses to review his third point as a standalone issue, Respondent will address Appellant's assertion that the ALC should not have considered the evidence regarding his 1982 conviction for housebreaking and his failure to complete probation.

Initially, Respondent submits that it does not matter that the Record on Appeal did not include evidence of Appellant's prior criminal history – it only matters that the evidence was before the Board. *Cooper, Compton*, and §1-23-600(D) greatly limits the ALC's authority over the decision-making of the Board. Notably, in an appeal from a Board's decision, the only issues reviewable by the ALC are whether the Board considered the statutorily-mandated parole criteria, actuarial risk-needs assessment tool, and the factors outlined in §23-21-640. *Cooper* at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112. The ALC cannot consider the weight of the evidence before the Board, so the Department is not required to provide more than the letter of rejection. *Id.* See also *Compton*.

The ALC's own rules require the Department supply only a copy of the agency decision

and the decision following a motion for reconsideration, if applicable. SCALC Rule 61. This rule comports with the extreme limitations on the ALC's jurisdiction over appeals of routine denials of parole. §1-23-600(D). "An administrative law judge shall not hear ... an appeal involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services."

However, Appellant seeks to weaponize this Rule by then stating that the ALC cannot consider anything outside of what it requires. It bears repeating again that the ALC cannot hear routine denials of parole, and furthermore no inmate has a right to parole.

It's worth noting that Appellant did not appeal his denial of parole by saying that he had never failed to successfully complete a community supervision program – only that he did not, and could not have, completed CSP. Had Appellant never been on a form of supervision before his current offense, an appeal over that ground as being a reason for denial would have merit. Indeed, it would likely never have reached the ALC, because Respondent's own reconsideration process would have provided for the Board to review its denial in light of that fact.

Instead, the basis for Appellant's appeal is over a hyper-technical definition of a phrase in the Board's letter of rejection – which is in the record. Because the Board's reasons for rejection were at issue, it was appropriate for Respondent to raise Appellant's criminal history by citing to the indictment number of his housebreaking conviction to show that he was in fact on a form of supervision that was not completed successfully.

Subsequently, the ALC remanded the matter to the Board with instructions to "clarify[] with sufficient particularity what it meant by 'community supervision program.'" R*. p. 5. In response, the Board referred to Appellant's probationary sentence from 1982.

Appellant argues that there are no facts in the Record on Appeal supporting the Board's findings. Respondent submits that the Board's decision-making is not reviewable by the ALC, so the facts do not need to be in the record. The ALC, per its own rules, only requires "a copy of the agency decision, and where applicable, the decision following a motion for reconsideration." SCALC Rule 61. It should only matter to the ALC that Appellant's prior supervision history exists, because it must defer to the Board's decision-making. The Court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. § 1-23-380(5).

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